2008

Veronica Jacobsen v. Guenther Jacobsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS, STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL, AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “We determine the existence of a contract . . . by resorting to principles of law; therefore, we grant no deference to the trial court that originally decided the matter.” Carter v. Sorenson, 2004 UT 33, ¶6, 90 P.3d 637; *see*, Nunley v. Westates Casing Servs., Inc., 1999 UT 100, ¶17, 989 P.2d 1077. “Whether a contract exists between parties is a question of law; therefore, we review the trial court’s conclusion of law under a

correction of error standard.” Herm Hughes & Sons, Inc. v. Quintek, 834 P.2d 582, 583 (Utah App. 1992), *citing* Bailey v. Call, 767 P.2d 138, 139 (Utah App), *cert denied*, 773 P.2d 45 (Utah 1989); *accord*, Scarf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). “In determining the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the district court’s findings, [w]e review the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court’s findings and affirm if there is a reasonable basis for doing so.” Ockey v. Lehmer, 2008 UT 37, ¶34, 189 P.3d 51, *citing* Reinbold v. Utah Fun Shares, 850 P.2d 487, 489 (Utah App 1993); *see also*, Grayson Roper Ltd. P’ship v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989).

ISSUE II: *Alternatively, if the Divorce Agreement is enforceable, did the trial court err in offsetting the proceeds for the sale of the Terra Vista home, under what it found to be an enforceable agreement, with monies paid for the purpose of retiring the mortgage when (a) the agreement had been in effect for 2 years prior to such payments being made; (b) the plain language of the agreement indicated that, absent a pay-out in September of 2004, the equity would be divided equally among the parties upon property sale closure and (c) did it err in determining that Appellee’s prior inheritance monies which he paid into the Terra Vista home be returned to him in full?*

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “Interpretation of contract terms is a question of law.” Holladay Duplex Management Co., L.L.C. v. Howells, 2002 UT App 125, ¶2, 47 P.3d 104, *citing* Canyon Meadows, 2001 UT App 414, ¶7, 40 P.3d 1148; *see also*, Dixon v. Pro Image, Inc., 1999 UT 89, ¶14, 987 P.2d 48. “We review the trial court’s rulings on questions of law for correctness.” *Id.*, *see*, Canyon Meadows at ¶7. “[T]he trial court has wide discretion in property division, and its judgment will not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion can be demonstrated.” Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 305-306 (Utah 1988).

ISSUE III: *Did the trial court err in awarding Appellee equity in house for payments made pursuant to the Divorce Agreement following signing of agreement up to and including the sale of the Terra Vista property; awarding Appellee all interest accrued on the escrow containing the proceeds from the sale of the*

Terra Vista property; and did the trial court enter conflicting findings in determining that the parties separated their financial accounts in May 2001?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “[T]he trial court has wide discretion in property division, and its judgment will not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion can be demonstrated.” Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 305-306 (Utah 1988).

ISSUE IV: *Did the trial court err in using the new values (instead of depreciated values) for major household items and the 2002 VW Golf in ordering Veronica to pay Guenther one half the value of those items?*

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “[T]he trial court has wide discretion in property division, and its judgment will not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion can be demonstrated.” Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 305-306 (Utah 1988).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

A. U.C.A. § 30-3-3(1)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties met in Decatur, Alabama, on December 12, 2006, while both were working for Hexcel Corporation, and were married on April 18, 1997. R0393 at pp. 7-8. On June 2, 1997, appellant Veronica Jacobsen (“**Veronica**”) moved to Kearns, Utah (hereinafter, the “**Gingerwood Home**”), to live with appellee Guenther Jacobsen (“**Guenther**”). *Id.* The Gingerwood Home in Kearns, Utah, was owned by Guenther at that time. *Id.* at p. 44. Veronica resigned her position in Alabama making approximately \$46,000 per year, and sold her home for a profit of \$6,000, which was placed in a joint account. *Id.* at pp. 10-11.

In 1999, the couple began construction on a home in Sandy (hereinafter, the “**Terra Vista Home**”), mortgaging the Gingerwood Home for approximately \$60,000 to purchase

the lot in Sandy, which cost approximately \$81,000. R0393 at pp. 43-44, 48. The remaining \$21,000 came from the couple's joint account. *Id.* at 45. Veronica's name was placed on the Gingerwood Home on or about June 18th or 19th, 1999, so the parties could purchase the lot for the Terra Vista Home. *Id.* at 45-46. In October of 1999, the couple fired their contractor and Veronica managed the remainder of the construction until its completion in April of 2000. *Id.* at 48. The sale of the Gingerwood Home reflects both Veronica and Guenther as owners and sellers. *Id.* at p. 47.

On May 14, 2001, the parties signed and notarized a one page document titled *Divorce Agreement* (the “**Divorce Agreement**”), which reflected the parties' agreements to distribution of some property. R0077. The Divorce Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein by this reference. Approximately three and one half years later, on October 13, 2005, Veronica, filed a *Petition for Divorce* (the “**Petition**”), requesting the termination of her marriage to Guenther. R0001. Concerning the Terra Vista Home, Veronica requested that (a) Guenther be awarded the Terra Vista Home; (b) Veronica be entitled to one-half the value of the equity in the Terra Vista home valued at the time of the Decree of Divorce by a certified appraiser of Veronica's choosing, and; (c) Veronica be ordered to sign a Quit Claim Deed for the Terra Vista Home within ten (10) days of entry of the Decree of Divorce and (d) Guenther be ordered to pay Veronica one-half of the equity within thirty (30) days of the entry of the Decree of Divorce. R0003. The Petition did not seek alimony from Guenther conditioned on Guenther performing certain requests. On October 26, 2005, Guenther filed his *Answer and Counterclaim*. R0011. Concerning the Terra Vista Home, Guenther requested that, based on the parties' separation in January 2003, it

was just for the parties to be awarded equity based upon the value of the equity accrued from the time they moved into the residence until their separation on or about January 1, 2003. R0015. Guenther requested the value be determined by a mutually agreed upon appraiser. *Id.*

On October 3, 2006, the parties came before Commissioner Patrick T. Casey for a pretrial settlement conference. R0218. The commissioner determined mediation had failed, the parties were unable to resolve the issues, and certified the matter for trial. *Id.* The commissioner determined the following issues for trial: (1) Veronica's claim for one-half the equity in the Terra Vista Home and how the Divorce Agreement applies thereto, which was further complicated by other factors; (2) the parties' vehicles and Veronica's request for balancing of the values in the vehicles; (3) the financial accounts and their valuation dates to be divided equally; (4) Veronica's request for alimony, particularly since she experiences a shortfall every month; (5) the issue of the repayment of monies taken from the financial account; and (6) attorney's fees. R0218-0220, 0223.

On January 31, 2007, the Petition came for trial (the "**Trial**"). R0393 - Tr. at p. 3. On February 2, 2007, the trial court rendered its oral findings. R0277. The trial court concluded that the Divorce Agreement was an enforceable agreement and determined to enforce it. R0394 at p. 3. The trial court based this conclusion on its findings that (a) Veronica testified that the Divorce Agreement was her idea, she drafted it, and both parties appeared before a notary to sign it; (b) Veronica testified she had no specific immediate intent to implement the Divorce Agreement, but previously attempted to fill out paperwork for divorce; (c) Veronica's child Isaac required a secure place to live until he completed High School; and, (d) while the Divorce Agreement did not address all of the parties' financial assets, it did

address a substantial number of assets and how they should be distributed. *Id.* at pp. 4-5.

The trial court found that there was performance on the Divorce Agreement by the parties. R0394 at p. 5. Veronica's name was removed from the Terra Vista Home's mortgage, Guenther continued to make monthly mortgage payments and, while Veronica temporarily moved to Hong Kong, Isaac remained in the Terra Vista Home until August 2004. *Id.* at pp. 5-6. Hence, the trial court concluded elements of the contract had been met in that both parties participated in the drafting and revision of the Divorce Agreement and had reached a meeting of the minds. *Id.* at p. 6. The trial court found that the lack of an actual filing of a divorce action did not take away from the enforceability of the contract and, since the Divorce Agreement did not provide a precise date by which the Terra Vista Home was to be sold, that there would be equal division of equity whenever the sale occurred. *Id.* at pp. 6-8.

The trial court found that the way in which the parties filed their tax returns after signing the Divorce Agreement demonstrated the parties' intent to keep their finances separate. *Id.* at p. 9. The trial court found that the distribution of the 401-K and pension plans was contemplated by the Divorce Agreement, which indicates that they would be divided equally. *Id.* Furthermore, the Divorce Agreement disclaimed Veronica's right to seek alimony. *Id.* While the trial court noted the Divorce Agreement does not make provisions concerning the distribution of personal property, including stock options, this failure did not take away from the Divorce Agreement's enforceability, since it in large measure addressed the distribution of assets. *Id.*

The trial court determined that Veronica was effectively gifted with one-half the value of the Gingerwood Home, irrespective of the fact that Guenther had paid for it in full before

the marriage. R0394 at p. 10. Hence, the trial court found that the Gingerwood Home was marital property and thus went into the interest of the Terra Vista Home. *Id.* at pp. 10-11.

The trial court concluded that the joint accounts became separate after May 2001, when Veronica began depositing her paychecks into a different account. R0394 at pp. 11-12. The trial court found that the parties remained signatories on each other's accounts as a convenience to Veronica. *Id.* The trial court concluded that the parties intended to retain their funds as separate assets after May 25, 2001, and that Veronica acted improperly by withdrawing money from the joint account. *Id.* at p. 15. Thus, the trial court held that Guenther was entitled to deduct the money taken from the account from the equity in the Terra Vista Home. *Id.* The trial court found that Guenther was entitled to the fix-up expenses he incurred when selling the Terra Vista Home, and that Guenther was entitled to reimbursement for paying off Veronica's debt when the parties married. *Id.* at p. 15-16. Therefore, the trial court concluded that different dates needed to be attached to the valuing of different assets. R0394 at p. 18. The trial court found that the checking and savings accounts were separated on May 25, 2001, and monies held in the respective accounts were separate property of the parties thereafter. *Id.* at p. 18. The trial court found the valuation of the Terra Vista Home as of the date of its sale, which was contemplated by the Divorce Agreement. *Id.*

The trial court determined that the income tax filings and refunds had already been divided between the parties equitably. R0394 at p. 20. The trial court determined the value of stock options and pension as of the date of divorce and awarded each party half interest in the other's pension and stock options. *Id.* The trial court found that Veronica needed

minor assistance with her attorney fees and awarded Veronica \$2,500 in attorney's fees. *Id.* at pp. 20-21.

On June 19, 2008, the trial court entered its *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order* (the "**FOF/COL**"). R0367. On August 25, 2008, the Decree was entered. R0401. The Decree granted the parties divorce on grounds of irreconcilable differences. R0402. Veronica's claim to Guenther's inheritance was categorically rejected, including the portion of inheritance Guenther used to retire the mortgage on the Terra Vista Home. *Id.* The Divorce Agreement was deemed valid and enforceable, with any ambiguity resolved against Veronica as the drafter thereof. Veronica was determined to have waived claim to alimony and denied such request. *Id.* The date of May 25, 2001, was utilized for the purpose of separating the joint financial accounts, with Guenther awarded \$29,777.20, an amount that Veronica removed from Guenther's account in . *Id.* This amount was deducted from Veronica's share of the sales proceeds of the Terra Vista Home. *Id.* The date of January 31, 2007, was utilized for the date of valuation for Guenther's stock options accumulated during the marriage, and each party was awarded one-half the value of the stock as of that date. The date of January 31, 2007, was also utilized as the date of valuation of the parties' pension plans, 401ks, and any other retirements. *Id.* Thus, Veronica was awarded \$68,829.64 withdrawn from Guenther's 401k plan and Guenther was ordered to receive one-half of \$12,000 cashed out from Veronica's retirement. *Id.* The trial court determined Veronica would receive an offset of \$28,414.82 from the monies she was ordered to pay to Guenther from her share of the sales proceeds of the Terra Vista Home. R0402-0403. The proceeds of

the Terra Vista Home sale had been placed in escrow when it sold and amounted to \$488,949.11. R0393 at p. 51.

The date of August 17, 2006, which was the Terra Vista Home's date of sale, was utilized for the division of equity. R0403. The trial court first determined Guenther would receive \$241,465.52 outright from the proceeds, which represented the extra payments he made to retire the mortgage and one-half the cost of repairs to the home prior to the division of the sales proceeds. *Id.* The trial court rewarded the remaining sales proceeds of \$247,483.50 to be divided equally between the parties. *Id.* However, out of the remaining sales proceeds, Veronica was ordered to pay Guenther (a) \$29,777.29 for the wrongfully taken money from his account; (b) \$4,134.25 as Guenther's one-half interest in the major personal property retained by Veronica; (c) \$5,137.50 as Guenther's one-half interest in the value of the Vehicle; (d) attorney's fees in the amount of \$2,117.50, due to Veronica removing money as indicated from Guenther's account; and (e) \$14,417.21 to reimburse Guenther for paying her pre-marital debt. Guenther was ordered to pay Veronica \$47,417 for her one-half interest in the parties' retirement accounts and stock options, and attorney's fees in the amount of \$2,500. R0403-0404. Hence, the trial court ordered the distribution of the Terra Vista Home escrow in the amount of \$117,914.38 to Veronica and \$371,034.72 to Guenther. R0404. On September 22, 2008, Veronica filed her *Notice of Appeal*. R0445.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Material facts relative to each issue are contained in the argument section for each argument *post* so as to avoid repetition.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In its analysis of contracts between spouses, this Court has determined the following:

In addressing the stipulated divorce decree between Wife and Husband, we first “acknowledge[] the general authority of spouses ... to arrange property rights by a contract that is recognized and enforced by a court in the event of a divorce.” *Reese v. Reese*, 1999 UT 75, ¶24, 984 P.2d 987. And although the Utah Supreme Court has held that “contracts between spouses ... are not necessarily judged on the same terms as contracts executed by persons operating at ‘arm’s length,’” we note that the court never set forth a different test or standard of review for such contracts. *Id.* Instead, the court has stated the general principle that “spouses ... may make binding contracts with each other and arrange their affairs as they see fit, insofar as the negotiations are conducted in good faith ... and do not unreasonably constrain the court’s equitable and statutory duties.” *Id.* at ¶25. In effect, the parties “are held to the highest degree of good faith, honesty, and candor,” and “agreements concerning the disposition of property owned by the parties at the time of their marriage are valid, so long as there is no fraud, coercion, or material nondisclosure.” *Id.* at ¶24 (quotations and citation omitted).

Sweet v. Sweet, 2006 UT App. 216, ¶3, 138 P.3d 63.

The Utah Supreme Court has held, “[a] binding contract can exist only where there has been mutual assent by the parties manifesting their intention to be bound by its terms.”

Bunnell v. Bills, 13 Utah 2d 83, 368 P.2d 597, 600 (Utah 1962) *citing* Allen v. Bissinger and Co., 62 Utah 226, 219 P. 539, 31 A.L.R. 376.

In May of 2001, the parties signed the document titled “Divorce Agreement.” However, the parties did not end their relationship, and Veronica did not actually file for divorce until October of 2005. When this matter came before the trial court, the Divorce Agreement was held to be a binding and enforceable contract, and the division of the marital

property was made accordingly. However, the trial court's reliance upon the Divorce Agreement was in error as the Divorce Agreement was not entered into in contemplation of divorce as is evidenced throughout the brief, and was not made in good faith by the parties.

However, should this Court determine that the Divorce Agreement is enforceable, then the trial court erred in offsetting the proceeds from the sale of the Terra Vista Home. This Court has held, "[i]t is [a] court's duty to enforce the intentions of the parties as expressed in the plain language of the covenants." Holladay Duplex Management Co., L.L.C. v. Howells, 2002 UT App 125, ¶7, 47 P.3d 104, *citing* Swenson v. Erickson, 2000 UT 16, ¶11, 998 P.2d 807. "Furthermore, [s]uch language is to be taken in its ordinary and generally understood and popular sense, and is not to be subjected to technical refinement nor the words torn from their association and their separate meanings sought in a lexicon." *Id.*, *citing* Freeman v. Gee, 18 Utah 2d 339, 423 P.2d 155, 163 (1967).

Under the Divorce Agreement, Veronica's name was to be kept on the Terra Vista property, her name was to be removed from the mortgage, Guenther was to make all payments on the mortgage at least through August 2004, and (under 3.1) the equity was to be split "equally" when the Terra Vista house was sold. Under the plain language of the Divorce Agreement, any payment made by Guenther to the Terra Vista property was a gift to the marriage. The trial court decided, however, to award Guenther an offset for paying off the mortgage, and for improvements and maintenance he claimed on the home. Veronica was given no offset for her maintenance and improvements on the home, and the Divorce Agreement had no provision for giving credit for payments made on the property. The trial court's decision to give Guenther equity credit for additional payments he made to the Terra

Vista home ignored the plain language of the Divorce Agreement, and ignored the fact of Veronica and he holding the title jointly as husband and wife. The trial court's decision denied Veronica the benefit of the bargain she made with the Divorce Agreement.

This Court has stated that, “. . .the doctrine of construing ambiguities in a contract against the drafter functions as a kind of tie-breaker, used as a last resort by the fact-finder after the receipt and consideration of all pertinent extrinsic evidence has left unresolved what the parties actually intended.” Wilburn v. Interstate Elec., 748 P.2d 582, 585 (Utah App. 1988). In the instant matter, the fact that Veronica was the drafter of the Divorce Agreement has been construed against her, even though the parties agreed to an agreement in the form later changed and countered by Guenther. The mere fact that Veronica drafted the initial agreement—later countered when Guenther made changes to such agreement—should not be held against her.

This Court has held that, “Utah law provides that a spouse may transfer his or her interest in separately acquired property into the marital estate.” Bradford v. Bradford, 1999 UT App. 373, ¶22, 993 P.2d 887 *citing* UT. CODE ANN. §30-2-3. Bradford continues, “[a] transfer of otherwise separate property to a joint tenancy with the grantor's spouse is generally presumed to be a gift, *see* 41 C.J.S. *Husband and Wife* § 103(a), at 397 (1991) (*citing Kramer v. Kramer*, 709 S.W.2d 157, 159 (Mo.Ct.App.1986)), and, when coupled with an evident intent to do so, effectively changes the nature of that property to marital property.” *Id.*, *citing Mortensen v. Mortensen*, 760 P.2d 304, 307-08 (Utah 1988). In the instant matter, the trial court erred in giving Guenther the amount of all payments he made to the Terra Vista property, including those stemming from his inheritance, as an offset on the marital property

because any payments made to the marital property changed the nature of those payments into marital property.

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