2008

# Veronica Jacobsen v. Guenther Jacobsen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**II. VERONICA DID NOT MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE TO SHOW JUDICIAL ERROR or ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT IN ITS FINDING THAT THE PARTIES' POST-NUPTIAL AGREEMENT (the "DIVORCE AGREEMENT") IS ENFORCEABLE.**

This Court, in Chen v. Stewart, 2004 UT 82, acknowledged the lack of understanding of the marshaling requirement and, painstakingly restated the requirements of marshaling.

... an appellant must first marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below ...

... appellant [must] marshal all the evidence in favor of the facts as found by the trial court and then demonstrate that even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings of fact.... the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists ...appellants must provide a precisely focused summary of all the evidence supporting the findings they challenge. ... [which] must correlate all particular items of evidence with the challenged findings and then convince us that the trial court erred in the assessment of that evidence ... What appellants cannot do is merely re-argue the factual case they presented in the trial court....The process of marshaling is thus fundamentally different from that of presenting the evidence at trial. The challenging party must ... fully embrace the adversary's position...[and] must present the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court,... and not attempt to construe the evidence in a light favorable to their case. . . . Appellants cannot merely present carefully selected facts and excerpts from the record in support of their position. . . . Nor can they simply restate or review evidence that points to an alternate finding or a finding contrary to the trial court's finding of fact. . . . In sum, to properly marshal the evidence the challenging party must demonstrate how the court found the facts from the evidence and then explain why those findings contradict the clear weight of the evidence.

The purpose of this rigorous and strict requirement is to promote two interrelated court objectives: efficiency and fairness. A proper marshaling of the evidence promotes efficiency by avoiding "retrying the facts" and by assisting the appellate court in its "decision-making and opinion writing." It promotes fairness by requiring that the appellants bear the expense and time of marshaling the evidence rather than putting the appellee in the "precarious

position" of performing the appellant's work at "considerable time and expense." This deference to a trial court's findings is "based on and fosters the principle that appellants rather than appellees bear the greater burden on appeal."

If the marshaling requirement is not met, the appellate court has grounds to affirm the court's findings on that basis alone. ... If appellants have failed to properly marshal the evidence, we assume that the evidence supports the trial court's findings. [citations omitted.]

Veronica has not marshaled the evidence, but, instead ignored damaging findings, restated evidence favorable to her position, pointed out facts that would support findings contrary to the trial court's findings, and attempted to recast damaging evidence in a light more favorable to her position and, essentially, attempt to reargue the facts before this Court.

#### **A. Contracts Between Spouses Are Enforceable**

Veronica appeals the trial court's findings that Divorce Agreement is enforceable, without marshaling the evidence which supports the finding. Veronica does cite to trial testimony where, under direct examination by her counsel, she states Guenther "finalized" the Divorce Agreement. However, Veronica did not cite to her trial testimony on cross examination by Guenther's counsel that: (1) Veronica entered into the Divorce Agreement voluntarily; (2) Veronica never attempted to set aside the Divorce Agreement or make the Divorce Agreement unenforceable; (3) that prior to drafting the Divorce Agreement, Veronica filed on line (but not with any court) for divorce; (4) that the Divorce Agreement was in contemplation of a divorce; (Tr 83 L 5-25); (5) that she did not ask Guenther to sign the Divorce Agreement until one month after he moved out of the Terra Vista home (at her request), and (6) that the execution of the Divorce Agreement was to benefit Veronica



because she was worried Guenther would leave her for another woman (Tr 30, L 5 - 31 L 5.) Neither did Veronica cite to her testimony that she wanted the Divorce Agreement in place “just in case if he decided to take off,” given that Veronica needed to stay in one place until her child finished high school. (Tr 31 L 18- 32 L 2.) Veronica also did not cite to any portion of the record that disputes the trial court’s findings that: (1) “the elements of the contract have been met;” (2) “both parties participated in drafting and revising the agreement, and reaching a meeting of the minds;” and (3) “[b]oth accepted legal detriments. He [Guenther] assumed responsibility for the mortgage, but she [Veronica] stayed on the title for property. She gave up the right to alimony...” (R.O.A. 481, p. 6 L 10 -15, Addendum #3.)

Veronica also does not explain her conflicting testimony that “I never had the intention to divorce.” (Tr 83 L 7). But she admits the Divorce Agreement was in contemplation of a divorce, as she had filled out, but not filed, on line forms for divorce. (Tr 83 L 19-25.)

Veronica has not marshaled the evidence and then demonstrated the fatal flaw in the trial court’s decision. Thus, the trial court’s ruling as to the enforceability of the Divorce Agreement should be affirmed.

**B. It Was Not Judicial Error to State the Rule of Law that Ambiguities in Contracts Should be Resolved Against the Drafter.**

Veronica next appeals the trial court’s statement of contract law, that ambiguities are construed against the drafter of the contract. Veronica did not marshal any evidence to dispute this finding. Veronica did not cite to her testimony that she drafted the Divorce Agreement, that Guenther requested changes which were accepted by Veronica, and that the

Divorce Agreement itself was her idea (Tr 30 L 2-4; Tr 82 L 22 - 83 L 1; Tr 190 L 11-16). Guenther is unsure as to why Veronica included this as judicial error requiring correction by this Court. The trial court did not find any specific ambiguities in the contract. There was disputed testimony as to the date the parties divided their financial accounts, but the court resolved that dispute in Veronica's favor by adopting May 25, 2001, the date testified to by Veronica. (Tr 84 L 17.) The trial court further found there was no ambiguity as to the date the Terra Vista home should be sold, as the Divorce Agreement clearly states that the sale of the home "shall take place **after** August 31, 2004." [emphasis added] (R.O.A. 394, p. 7, L 21-8 L 7, Addendum #1.) Veronica did not marshal the evidence as to this issue, and, in fact, admits "the court did not note ambiguity in its interpretation of the contract." (Brief of Appellant, p. 21, para. 4. Veronica did not marshal the evidence and then demonstrate the fatal flaw in the trial court's ruling, that any ambiguities would be construed against the drafter of the Divorce Agreement. The finding of the trial court should be affirmed.

Neither did Veronica marshal the evidence as to an abuse of discretion regarding the fact that the Terra Vista home was not sold in August 2004. The facts in this case are similar to Jensen v. Jensen, 2008 UT App 392, in which this Court found it was not judicial error when the trial court did not enforce the parties' stipulation to immediately sell their residence. In Jensen, this Court found the "decision to reject or modify a stipulation related to a property division in a divorce proceeding is reviewed for abuse of discretion." See, also, Clausen v. Clausen, 675 P.2d 562, 564 (Utah 1983). Again, Veronica failed to marshal the evidence as to any abuse of discretion by the trial court in resolving ambiguities against

Veronica as the drafter of the Divorce Agreement. Thus, this Court should assume the record supports those findings.

**III. VERONICA FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE THAT THERE WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE TRIAL COURT'S DIVISION OF THE PARTIES' FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS.**

**A. Award of Extra Payments to Retire Mortgage**

Veronica failed to marshal the evidence related to the trial court's award to Guenther of payments toward the Terra Vista mortgage from his separate monies and inheritance. Veronica did not cite the portions of the record that were damaging to her case, highlighted only the facts that were favorable to her position, and merely reargued her position at trial before this Court. Veronica alleges in her Brief that her primary reason for giving up alimony was for the equity in the Terra Vista home of \$70,000.00 or one-half of the equity when the home was sold, whichever was greater, but fails to cite to the record as to how she preserved this issue for appeal.<sup>1</sup> Veronica fails to cite to the record her testimony: (1) that she wanted Guenther to sign the Divorce Agreement primarily to insure she and her son would be able to live in the Terra Vista home (without any obligation that she pay the mortgage, property taxes or insurance); (2) because of her fear that Guenther would leave her for another woman; (3) and to make Guenther be nicer to her. The parties had been married for four years only when Veronica asked Guenther to sign the Divorce Agreement (which guaranteed Veronica, or her son, would receive a monthly benefit of \$1,624.41 (Tr 176 L

---

<sup>1</sup>(Tr 3 L 15 thru 4 L 22); (2) the issue of fault in determining an alimony award (Tr 13 L 18 thru 22); (3) the result of a hearing regarding a request for temporary alimony, which was denied Tr 61 L 4 thru 63 L 15); (4) Veronica's need for alimony (Tr 76 L 17); and (5) the fact that there was no claim for alimony in Veronica's original petition for divorce (Tr 188 L 7 thru 13)

2-3) for thirty-nine months. (From August 2004, through August 2006, either Veronica or her son received the monthly benefit of residing in the Terra Vista home without an obligation to pay the mortgage or property taxes or insurance thereon. This included the period of August 2005 through February 2006, when Veronica had quit her job in Hong Kong and was unemployed in Utah.) Veronica continued to stay at the Terra Vista home, without any contribution for utilities, maintenance and other living expenses, after she obtained employment until the home was sold in August, 2006. Veronica has not marshaled the evidence or demonstrated a fatal flaw in the trial court's finding that the Divorce Agreement was enforceable, especially in light of the benefits received by Veronica as a result of the Divorce Agreement.

Veronica also has not marshaled the evidence as to her claim that the trial court erred in awarding Guenther an offset for the payments made toward the Terra Vista mortgage from his inheritance (approximately \$45,000.00) and his monies from his employment, after the parties separated their financial accounts, while Veronica was in Hong Kong. Veronica did state that at the time of trial, Guenther admitted that equity in the Terra Vista home included monies from inheritance, but omitted Guenther's testimony that there was no inheritance at the time the Divorce Agreement was signed (Tr 195 L 7-11). However, Veronica's claim that the Divorce Agreement reflects Guenther would pay off the Terra Vista mortgage and the parties would divide the equity upon the sale of the home is incorrect. The Divorce Agreement is clear that "[a]fter August 2004, mortgage and equity loan payments will be shared in the ration of actual gross income." (Exhibit B to Appellant's Brief, para. 4.)

Veronica's claim that the monies were gifted to her is also not supported by the record or the trial court's findings. Veronica chose not to cite the facts that support the ruling by the trial court: (1) Veronica testified there was no gift letter (Tr 120 L 4-9); and (2) the trial court found that leaving the parties' names on each other's account was primarily a convenience to Petitioner (R.O.A. 481, p. 13 L 19- 20, Addendum #3). Veronica provided no evidence to set aside the trial court's rejection of her contention that "his money would be her money, too." (Id., L 1- 2 .) Additional facts supporting the trial court's ruling include: (1) Veronica's testimony that the parties separated their financial accounts on May 25, 2001; (2) Veronica's testimony that she kept her annual \$104,000.00 salary from her Hong Kong employment in her separate account; (3) Veronica's testimony that she had saved \$67,000.00 during her Hong Kong employment, which she kept in her separate account when she returned to Utah; (4) Guenther's payments of \$45,000.00 (approximately) representing his inheritance are traceable; (5) the fact that Veronica paid no monies toward the Terra Vista mortgage after August 2004, as required by the Divorce Agreement; (6) the trial court's finding that the only default under the terms of the agreement was Petitioner's failure to pay anything on the home after she returned in August of 2005 (R.O.A. 394, p.8 L 13-18, Addendum #1); and (7) the fact that Veronica provided no evidence that she enhanced the value of the Terra Vista home after Guenther had used his inheritance payments and separate monies to retire the mortgage. <sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>Veronica could have asked the trial court to calculate the credits to Guenther based on the percentages set forth in the Divorce Agreement. However, Veronica did not present any evidence as to what those calculations would have been during trial or mention an alternate

This Court, in Kimball v. Kimball, 2009 UT App 233, 217 P.3d 733 (UT App. 2009) found that inherited monies that are traceable in and out of joint accounts, do not lose their separate status through commingling. The Kimball Court also confirmed the requirement that Veronica must prove she “augmented, maintained, or protected the inherited property.”

"[T]rial courts making 'equitable' property division pursuant to section 30-3-5 should . . . generally award property acquired by one spouse by gift and inheritance during the marriage (or property acquired in exchange thereof) to that spouse, together with any appreciation or enhancement of its value[.]" Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 308 (Utah 1988). But[c]ourts have considered inherited property as part of the marital estate when "the other spouse has by his or her efforts augmented, maintained, or protected the inherited or donated property, when the parties have inextricably commingled the property with marital property so that it has lost its separate character, or when the recipient spouse has contributed all or part of the property to the marital estate." Schaumberg v. Schaumberg, 875 P.2d 598, 602 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis added) (quoting Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1990)). ... "The question of whether a gift or inheritance has remained separate is highly fact intensive and the trial court is in the best position to weigh the evidence and make that determination." Stonehocker v. Stonehocker, 2008 UT App 11, P 29, 176 P.3d 476.

Veronica has not marshaled the evidence that it was judicial error or an abuse of discretion for the trial court to award Guenther the full value of his separate payments to retire the Terra Vista mortgage. The award by the trial court of \$230,000.00 (approximately) to Guenther, representing his inheritance and/or separate payments, should be affirmed.

#### **B. Award of Escrow Interest**

Veronica, once again, selected only the facts which support her position in arguing that it was judicial error to award Guenther the interest which accrued on the account which

---

(note 2 cont'd) calculation for Guenther's overpayment in her post-trial motions. As such the issue was not preserved for appeal and is not before this court.

held the proceeds from the sale of the Terra Vista home. The most important being the funds were not distributed until over two years after the trial, matter pursuant to the trial court's ruling on Petitioner's Rule 59 motions, Rule 60 Motion, Respondent's Motion to Enforce Judgment and Petitioner's Motion to Stay Enforcement and Waive Bond. (Addendum #1).

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